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Labourers'
Pension Fund of Central and Eastern Canada ("Plaintiff") brings this action,

by its undersigned attorneys, Labaton Sucharow LLP and Ganfer Shore Leeds & Zauderer LLP,

on behalf of all persons and entities who purchased or acquired the common stock of CVS

Health Corporation
("CVS"

or the "Company") pursuant and/or traceable to the Registration

Statement (as defined herein), filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission

("SEC") in connection with CVS's November 28, 2018 acquisition of and merger with Aetna

Inc. ("Aetna") (the "Aetna Acquisition"), seeking to pursue solely strict liability and/or

negligence claims pursuant to Sections 11, 12(a)(2), and 15 of the Securities Act of 1933 (the

"1933
Act"

or "Securities Act"), 15 U.S.C. §§ 77k, 771, and 770.

Plaintiff's allegations are based upon personal knowledge, as to Plaintiff and Plaintiff's

own acts, and upon information and belief, as to all other matters, based on the investigation

conducted by and through Plaintiff's attorneys, which included, among other things, a review

and analysis of: (1) public documents pertaining to CVS, Aetna, and the individual defêñdañts,

as defined herein; (2) regulatory filings made by CVS and Aetna with the SEC; (3) press

releases, transcripts of carñings calls, and other public statements issued by and disseminated by

CVS and Aetna; (4) analyst reports conceming CVS and Aetna; (5) public reports and news

articles; and (6) interviews with former employees of CVS. Many additional facts supporting the

allegations contained herein are known only to defendants or are exclusively within their custody

and/or control. Plaintiff believes that further evidentiary support will exist for the allegations set

forth herein after reasonable opportunity for discovery.
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articles; and (6) interviews with forn1er employees of CVS. Many additional facts supporting the 

allegations contained herein are known only to defendants or are exclusively within their custody 

and/or control. Plaintiff believes that further evidentiary support will exist for the allegations set 

forth herein after reasonable opportunity for discovery. 



SUMMARY OF THE ACTION

1. CVS owns and operates, among other things, retail pharmacies throughout the

United States, and maintains its principal executive offices in Woonsocket, Rhode Island. In

2015, CVS acquired Omnicare Inc. ("Omnicare"), the nation's largest pharmacy catering to LTC

facilities, including assisted living and skilled nursing facilities. At the time of the acquisition,

CVS booked billions of dollars in goodwill attributable to Omnicare, suggesting that Omnicare

would have substantial growth prospects in the future.

2. As discussed below, and summarized here, Omnicare almost immediately started

to underperform following CVS's acquisition, and Omnicare's business further deteriorated after

the departure of Rocky Kraft, President of Omnicare, in September 2017, marking the beginn;ng

of a freefall.

3. Omnicare customers complained about CVS's rigid business practices, onerous

deniands, and unsustainable pricing. As a result, Omnicare was losing customers left and right

under CVS's ownership, leading to a significant loss of 10 percent to 25 percent of customers.

4. Further, Omnicare had a practice of inflating accounts receivables prior to CVS's

acquisition, and CVS continued to have many overstated accounts receivables after the

acquisition. In total, while owned by CVS, Omnicare had millions of dollars of overstated

accounts receivables and another $14 million in questionable receivables which had to be

corrected.

5. At the same time Omnicare struggled, the LTC industry began to face serious

headwinds that threatened to bankrupt many skilled nursing facilities across the country.

Starting in 2016 and continuing until the present day, the skilled nursing facility industry has

come under substantial financial pressure, as reimbursement rates from Medicare and Medicaid

declined and occupancy rates have fallen precipitously. While not widely known to the market,

2
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2015, CVS acquired Omnicare Inc. ("Omnicare"), the nation's largest pharmacy catering to LTC 

facilities, including assisted living and skilled nursing facilities. At the time of the acquisition, 

CVS booked billions of dollars in goodwill attributable to Omnicare, suggesting that Omnicare 

would have substantial growth prospects in the future. 

') As discussed below, and summarized here, Omnicare alrnost immediately started 

to underpcrform following CVS 's acquisition, and Omnicare's business further deteriorated after 

the departure of Rocky Kraft, President of Omnicare, in September 2017, marking the beginning 

of a freefall. 

3. Omnicare customers complained about CVS' s rigid business practices, onerous 

demands, and unsustainable pricing. As a result, Omnicare was losing customers left and right 

under CVS' s ownership, leading to a significant loss of 10 percent to 25 percent of customers. 

4. Further, Omnicare had a practice of inflating accounts receivables prior to CVS's 

acquisition, and CVS continued to have many overstated accounts receivables after the 

acquisition. Tn total, while: owned by CVS, Omnicare had millions of dollars of overstated 

accounts receivables and another $14 million 111 questionable receivables which had to be 

COITCCted. 

5. At the same time Omnicare struggled, the LTC industry began to face serious 

headwinds that threatened to bankrupt many skilled nursing facilities across the country. 

Starting in 2016 and continuing until the present day, the skilled nursing facility industry has 

come under substantial financial pressure, as reimbursement rates from Medicare and Medicaid 

declined and occupancy rates have fallen precipitously. While not widely known to the market, 

2 



in 2016 and 2017, several industry leaders commented that the skilled nursing facility industry

was "under
siege"

and could witness a 25 percent decline in the number of beds at skilled

nursing facilities. Pressure on the skilled nursing facility industry was so significant that in or

around August and November 2017, the two largest skilled nursing facility companies - Genesis

Healthcare and HCR ManorCare -
publicly announced a very real likelihood of bankruptcy or

restructuring.

6. Despite Omnicare's underperfonnance and the continued deterioration of the

skilled nursing industry, CVS created the impression that Omnicare was weathering the storm.

7. On November 28, 2018, in connection with the Aetna Acquisition, CVS issued

approximately 274.4 million new shares of CVS common stock directly to former stockholders

of Aetna common stock as follows: each former share of Aetna common stock issued and

outstanding immediately before the Aetna Acquisition was converted into the right to receive

0.8378 shares of newly issued CVS common
stock.1

8. Each of these new shares of CVS common stock was issued pursuant to a

registration statement and prospectus (collectively, the "Registration Statement"), which became

effective on February 9, 2018. The Registration Statement disclosed a purported value of CVS's

goodwill, and stated it was still worth $38.169 billion, which included approximately $6.6 billion

attributable to the LTC segment.

9. The Registration Statement contained untrue statements of material fact, omitted

to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading, and was not prepared

in accordance with the rules and regulations governing its preparation. The materially false or

misleading statements, or omissions of material fact, fall into four categories: (1) goodwill; (2)

In addition to newly issued CVS common stock, former stockholders of Aetna comruen

stock also received $145.00 per share in cash consideration, without interest.

3
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potential loss of clients and inability to win new business; (3) solvency of customers; and (4)

integration and success of prior CVS acquisitions.

10. First, the Registration Statement contained materially false and misleading

statements concerning the Company's goodwill. The Registration Statement informed investors

that there was no reason to believe a write down of the goodwill attributable to Omnicare was

necessary. However, the investors were misled because that analysis of goodwill was conducted

in the third quarter of 2017, at least five months prior to the effective date of the Registration

Statement, and therefore was stale.

11. The Registration Statement did not disclose that the skilled nursing industry was

"under
siege,"

with the two largest skilled nursing companies (Genesis Healthcare and HCR

ManorCare) nearing bankruptcy, that industry leaders expected a 25 percent decline in the

number of beds offered at skilled nursing facilities in the coming years, and that the Company's

accounts receivable were improperly booked and significantly increasing. Nor did the

Registration Statement disclose that the
"siege"

on the skilled nursing facility industry or the

increasing accounts receivable that existed at the time of the Registration Statement rendered the

stale goodwill impairment test included therein materially false and misleading.

12. Although the goodwill test incorporated in the Registration Statement relied on

management projections, the Registration Statement did not disclose that certain members of

Omnicare managemcñt -
presumably Omnicare's President, Rocky Kraft - had left or were in

the process of leaving CVS employment - a material fact that would have informed investors

that the issues at Omnicare were so serious that key management changes were necessary.

13. Second, the Registration Statement purported to warn that a potential loss of

customers and failure to win business could negatively impact the Company's operations, while

4
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failing to disclose that these very
"risks"

already materialized at the time of the Aetna

Acquisition. For instance, as discussed below, since its acquisition by CVS in May 2015,

Omnicare had already lost 10 percent to 25 percent of its LTC customers and Omnicare

management routinely fielded customer complaints that customers were no longer willing to

work with CVS due to the Company's rigid business practices and ignorance of the LTC

industry.

14. Third, the Registration Stateracñt described as potential certain risks associated

with customer solvency that may occur in the future and have an adverse impact on the

Company's operating results, rather than actual trends or events that had actually occurred. In

truth, many LTC customers had filed for or were in the process of filing for bankruptcy or

receivership due to a significant decrease in Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement.

15. Similarly, the Registration Statement disclosures about customer solvency were

materially false and misleading because they failed to disclose that Omnicare had struggled to

collect on outstanding accounts receivable or continued to book accounts receivables that should

have already been written off, and therefore bankruptcy of LTC customers would have a far

greater impact on Omnicare's business than typically expected when a customer enters

bankruptcy.

16. Finally, the Registration Statement purported to warn that CVS "may be unable

to successfully integrate companies acquired by
us" - e.g., Omnicare -

adding in particular that

"[a]n inability to realize the full extent of the anticipated benefits, operating and cost synergies,

innovations and operations efficiencies or growth opportunities of an acquisition . . . could have

a material adverse effect on our business and results of
operations."

However, as discussed

below, Omnicare had already underperformed in comparison to CVS expectations, including by

5
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not meeting internal growth projections. Omnicare's business also severely contracted since the

CVS acquisition, losing 10 percent to 25 percent of its customers from May 2015 to December

2017. Thus, the Registration Statement falsely portrayed as potential that the previous

acquisition of Omnicare
"could"

result in a material impact to CVS's business, when in fact

Omnicare's business had already significantly deteriorated to a point where a material impact to

CVS's business had already occurred.

17. Following the effective date of the Registration Statement and the special meeting

of stockholders at which the Aetna Acquisition was approved, CVS immediately announced an

overhaul of Omnicare management in the first quarter of 2018, and announced new financial

projections for the LTC segment in the second quarter of 2018. Unsurprisingly, new

management significantly reduced the LTC segment's future growth assumptions based on the

trends in the skilled nursing facility that existed as of the effective date of the Registration

Statement. Based on these new projections, within one year of the effective date of the

Registration Statement, CVS belatedly booked a goodwill impairment of over $6 billion.

18. Billions of dollars of goodwill does not evaporate overnight. In fact, as analysts

recognized after the impairment was announced, CVS had taken a substantial goodwill

impairment for issues that existed for years before the Registration Statement.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

19. This Court has original subject matter jurisdiction under the New York

Constitution, Article VI, § 7(a). Removal is barred by § 22 of the 1933 Act.

20. This Court has personal jurisdiction and venue is proper under the New York

Civil Practice Law and Rules ("CPLR") because one of the Individual Defendants (as defined

below) is a resident of New York; the closing of the Aetna Acquisition took place in this County;

6
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both Aetna and CVS held special meetings in this County where their respective stockholders

voted to (i) approve the Aetna Acquisition, and (ii) issue the CVS stock used as consideration in

the transaction; Aetna and CVS requested that stockholders mail their proxies to an address in

New York; Aetna and CVS voluntarily agreed that this County is the appropriate forum for any

claims arising from the debt financing for the Aetna Acquisition; the Regiatistion Statement was

prepared and reviewed, in part, in New York; Defendants and their agents affirmatively solicited

and sold the subject securities pursuant to the Registration Statement to Plaintiff and other

investors in New York, including in this County; CVS's legal and financial advisors in the Aetna

Acquisition are located in this County; the Aetna Acquisition exchange offer occurred in this

County on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE"); and the securities at issue are listed on the

NYSE, which is located in this County; and such contacts have a substantial connection to the

claims alleged herein.

21. On February 25, 2019, a CVS stockholder filed a federal securities complaint

alleging violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934

arising from the Company's belated write down of goodwill attributable to Omnicare (the

"Exchange Act Action"). The plaintiff in the Exchange Act Action did not acquire CVS

common stock pursuant to the Aetna Acquisition, and therefore does not allege violations of the

Securities Act or otherwise have standing to assert the claims alleged herein.

22. Moreover, the Securities Act claim asserted herein has been properly breüght in

state court. In March 2018, the U.S. Supreme Court held that state courts have jurisdiction over

class actions alleging violations of Securities Act claims and defendants are not permitted to

remove such actions to federal court. See Cyan, Inc. v. Beaver Cnty. Emps. Ret. Fund, 138 S.Ct.

1061 (2018).

7
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PARTIES

I. Plaintiff

23. Plaintiff,
Labourers'

Pension Fund of Central and Eastern Canada, is a multi-

employer pension plan that provides retirement benefits to approximately 99,l 60 current and

retired employees and oversees approximately $5 billion in assets. Plaintiff, a previous holder of

Aetna stock, acquired CVS common stock following the Aetna Acquisition, pursuant and/or

traceable to the Registration Statement and was damaged thereby.

II. Defendants

24. Defendant CVS Health Corporation ("CVS") is a retail pharmacy company

organized under the laws of the state of Delaware with its principal executive offices located at

One CVS Drive, Woonsocket, Rhode Island. CVS's common stock trades on the NYSE under

the ticker
"CVS."

In connection with the Aetna Acquisition, CVS issued approximately

274,434,393 new shares of CVS common stock directly to former stockholders of Aetna

common stock, all pursuant and/or traceable to the Registration Statement.

25. Defendant Larry J. Merlo ("Merlo") was, at all relevant times, the Chief

Executive Officer and a director on the CVS board of directors. Merlo reviewed, contributed to,

and signed the Registration Statement. Merlo is a resident of Rhode Island.

26. Defendant David M. Denton ("Denton") served as Executive Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer of CVS from January 1, 2010 until November 2018. Denton reviewed,

contributed to, and signed the Registration Statement. Denton is a resident of New York.

27. Defendant Eva C. Boratto ("Boratto") served as Chief Accounting Officer and

Controller of CVS from July 10, 2013 until November 2018, at which time Boratto was

promoted to Chief Financial Officer. Boratto reviewed, contributed to, and signed the

Registration Statement. Boratto is a resident of Pennsylvania.
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PARTIES 

f. Plaintiff 

Plaintiff Labourers· Pension Fund of Central and Eastern Canada, is a multi-

employer pension plan that provides retirement benefits tu approximately 99,160 current and 

retired employees and oversees approximately $5 billion in assets. Plaintiff~ a previous holder of 

Aetna stock, acquired CVS common stock following the Aetna Acquisition, pursuant and/or 

traceable to the Registration Statement and was damaged thereby. 

IJ. Defendants 

24. DeCenclant CVS Health Corporation ("CVS'') is a retail pharmacy company 

organized under the laws of the state of Delaware with its principal executive offices located at 

One CVS Drive, Woonsocket, Rhode Island. CVS's common stock trades on the T\YSE under 

the ticker ''CVS." In connection \vith the Aetna Acquisition, CVS issued approximately 

274,434,393 ne1.v share:,; of CVS eummon stock directly to former stockholders of Aetna 

common stock, all pursuant and/or traceable to tbc Registration Statement. 

25. Defendant Lany J. :Yferlo ("Merlo'") was, at all relevant times, the Chief 

Executive Officer and a director on the CVS board of directors. Merlo reviewed, contributed to, 

and signed the Registration Statement. Merlo is a resident uf Rhode [slancl. 

26. Defend,mt David M. Denton ("Denton") served as Executive Vice President and 

Chief Financial Officer of CVS from January 1, 201 CJ until November 2018. Denton reviewed, 

contributed to, and signed the Registration Statement. Denton is a resident of New York. 

27. Defendant Eva C. Boratto ("Boratto") served as Chief Accounting Officer and 

Controller of CVS from July 10, 2013 until November 2018, at which time Boratto was 

promoted to Chief Financial Officer. Boratto reviewed, contributed to, and signed the 

Registration Statement. Boratto is a resident of Pennsylvania. 
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28. Defendants Merlo, Denton, and Boratto are referred collectively herein as the

"Individual
Defendants."

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

L BACKGROUND

1. Overview of the Company

29. CVS touts itself as the nation's premier health innovation company. CVS

currently has four reportable segments: (i) Pharmacy Services; (ii) Retail/LTC; (iii) Health Care

Benefits; and (iv) Corporate/Other.

30. The Retail/LTC segment sells prescription drugs and other merchandise, provides

healthcare services through its MinuteClinic® walk-in medical clinics, and conducts long-term

care ("LTC") pharmacy operations for skilled nursing and assisted living facilities.

31. The LTC business, which operates under the Omnicare brand and is the business

at issue in this action, distributes prescription drugs and provides related phanmacy consulting

and ancillary services to chronic care facilities, including skilled nursing facilities, assisted living

facilities, independent living communities, hospitals, and correctional facilities.

2. The 2015 Omnicare Acquisition and Related CVS Accounting

32. In 2015, CVS acquired Omnicare for approximately $12.7 billion and assumed

approximately $2.3 billion in debt from Omnicare. At the time of the acquisition, Omnicare was

the nation's largest provider of pharmaceutical and related pharmacy services to LTC facilities,

controlling nearly 50% of the total market share. Accordingly, CVS boasted that Omnicare

would "significantly expand its ability to dispense prescriptions in assisted living and long term

care facilities, serving the senior patient
population."

33. Following the Omnicare acquisition, CVS partially accounted for the purchase on

its balance sheet as
"goodwill"

assets in its business - i.e., the excess of the purchase price over
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Omnicare's book value. Goodwill assets purport to represent the ability of a company to make a

higher profit than would be derived simply from selling all of its tangible assets. Goodwill is

considered an intangible asset.

34. According to SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, CVS was

required to test for impainment of the goodwill recognized in the Omnicare acquisition on an

annual basis and "between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would

more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying
amount."

According to SFAS No. 142, such an event or change in circumstances includes, inter alia,

"significant adverse change . . . in the business
climate"

or "loss of key
personnel."

35. The "reporting
unit"

is the business unit of the company in which all or a portion

of the goodwill recognized as a result of a business combination is recognized. Here, CVS

disclosed that it recognized all of the goodwill recognized in the Omnicare transaction in its LTC

segment. Thus, under SFAS No. 142, the Company was required to test the goodwill recognized

in the Omnicare transaction for impairment when it was more likely than not that an event or

change in circumstances discussed above reduced the fair value of the LTC segment below the

value stated on the Company's balance sheet.

36. When evaluating goodwill, CVS compares the fair value of its reporting units to

their respective carrying amounts. Fair value of a reporting unit is determined using a

combination of a discounted cash flow method and a market multiple method. If the fair value of

the reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, the reporting unit's goodwill is considered

impaired and an impairment is recognized as an amount equal to the excess.

37. The determination of fair value of CVS reporting units pursuant to the discounted

cash flow method requires, in part, that the Company generate financial projections for the
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reporting unit, including for revenues, operating profit, depreciation and amortization, capital

expenditures, and future working capital requirements. In generating these financial projections,

the Company reviews the reporting unit's historical results and current operating trends in order

to generate reasonable and attainable financial projections.

II. FINANCIAL UNDERPERFORMANCE OF OMNICARE AND THE
DETERIORATION OF THE SKILLED NURSING FACILITY SECTOR

A. Omnicare Fails to Meet Internal Projections, Losing Up To 25% of Its

Customers in Two Years

38. Unbeknownst to investors, following CVS's acquisition of Omnicare, Omnicare

did not perform in accordance to CVS's expectations and growth projections.

39. Almost immediately after CVS's acquisition, Omnicare showed signs of

underperformance. For instance, a former employee explained that around the second or third

quarter after the Omnicare acquisition, there were
"rumblings"

that Omnicare's business was

declining and then when Rocky Kraft left his position as President of Omnicare, it became "very

prevalent."
Rocky Kraft left Omnicare in September 2017.

40. The former employee stated that when Kraft departed, Omnicare was not

performing according to CVS's model and expectations, including that Omnicare had not been

meeting growth projections and was losing market share. According to the former employee, the

departure of Kraft was the beginning of a
"freefall."

According to the former employee, when

Kraft left the company, there was an
"exodus"

of Vice Presidents because CVS was "killing the

business."

41. Omnicare employees were not the only ones to recognize issues with CVS's

ownership of Omnicare. In fact, a former employee explained that Vice Presidents and Senior

Account Managers were having real conversations with customers and the consensus was that

CVS was impossible to deal with. According to the former employee, Omnicare internal
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ownership of Omnicare. In fact, a former employee explained that Vice Presidents and Senior 

Account Managers were having real conversations with customers and the consensus was that 

CVS was impossible to deal with. According to the former employee, Omnicare internal 
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conversations included that the Company was "losing customer
'X'

because CVS demands too

much and the pricing is not
sustainable."

The fonmer employee explained that Omnicare was

losing customers "left and
right"

under CVS's ownership, recalling a
"significant"

loss of "10-

25%"
of customers.

42. A former employee noted that prior to the CVS acquisition there was a slowdown

to make collections on Medicare from certain large LTC skilled nursing facility groups. As a

result, according to the former employee, Omnicare's account receivables were inflated at the

time of CVS's acquisition.

43. Accounts receivable contimled to be overstated after CVS's acquisition of

Omnicare. A fonner employee stated that Karen Dailey, who was appointed by CVS as Director

of National Credit and Collections for Omnicare, was clueless on how to manage Omnicare's

receivables for the skilled nursing and assisted living facilities. As a result, the former employee

stated that CVS continued to have a lot of overstated accounts receivables.

44. According to a former employee, under CVS's direction, Omnicare did not

relieve the bad debt that should have been relieved. The former employee stated that Karen

Dailey refused to write-off accounts receivable for several accounts that had supporting

documentation showing overstated accounts receivables.

45. Overall, the former employee believed Omnicare had millions of dollars of

overstated accounts receivables. In addition, the former employee stated that Omnicare had

another $14 million in questionable receivables which had to be corrected.
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B. Significant Operating Difficulties at Skilled Nursing Facilities Create Serious

Risks of Insolvency for CVS Customers

46. At the same time Omnicare struggled, the skilled nursing facility industry began

to experience significant operating difficulties, According to
CliftonLarsonAllen,2

starting in

2016, there was a distinct change in hospital behavior, resulting in fewer hospitalizations and

thereby fewer nursing admissions. Substitutions of care drove a larger percentage of hospital

discharges towards other sites of service, including home health. Both hospitals and Medicare

Advantage plans expected shorter lengths of stay. Together these trends reduced occupancy and

profitability nationwide for skilled nursing facilities. Additionally, workforce shortages and

elevated regulatory scrutiny made it even more difficult to operate in the skilled nursing facility

industry.

47. At the same time, CliftonLarsonAllen found that the debt-to-capital ratio for

skilled nursing facilities had increased in 2016. CliftonLarsenAllen noted that "SNFs [skilled

nursing facilities] were more highly leveraged in 2016 than prior years, which suggests that the

median facility either secured additional debt, or negative financial performance resulted in

reduced equity when compared to the prior
year."

48. In short, CliftonLarsenAllen concluded that "the operating environment for SNFs

[skilled nursing home facilities] is difficult, and a growing number of SNFs are approaching

insolvency."

49. The next year skilled nursing home facilities experienced significant increases in

the above trends. On June 11, 2017, the Post-Acute Link Care Continuum Conference was held

2
CliftonLarsenAllen provides wealth advisory, outsourcing, audit, tax, and consulting

services to long-tenn care providers, including skilled nursing facilities and assisted living
facilities. CliftonLarsenAllen issues annual reports summarizing the financial and strategic

challenges facing the skilled nursing facility industry.
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in Chicago. At the conference, Lincoln Healthcare Leadership president and founder David Ellis

declared the skilled nursing facility industry "under
siege,"

and predicted that about one-fourth

of all current skilled nursing facility beds would be gone in five years. Despite some positives,

Ellis said his company remained
"bearish"

on skilled nursing over the coming years, as the long-

term trend "doesn't look
good."

50. On the heels of the negative trends identified by industry leaders, the skilled

nursing facility industry began experiencing a wave of business failures. For instance, HCR

ManorCare, the second-largest U.S. nursing home operator with more than 500 skilled nursing

and assisted living facilities, faced imminent risk of bañkruptcy. On June 14, 2017, Healthcare

Finance reported The Carlyle Group would transfer ownership of HCR ManorCare to Quality

Care Properties, Inc. ("QCP"), HCR ManorCare's landlord and creditor, "after learning that the

nursing home chain defaulted on $380 million in senior
loans."

Despite the announced plans, in

August 2017, QCP filed for receivership in August 2017. Although HCR ManorCare and QCP

continued to negotiate debt payment extensions, HCR ManorCare ultimately filed for bankruptcy

in March 2018.

51. Further, in July 2017, Fortis Management Group, the operator of 60 skilled

nursing facilities in the Midwest and Pacific Northwest, filed for receivership.

52. Then, in November 2017, Genesis Healthcare, the nation's largest provider of

skilled nursing facilities, announced a $532 write down in the third quarter of 2017, warning

investors that bankruptcy could be possible in the absence of relief from creditors.

53. In each example above, the message was the same: skilled nursing facilities faced

collapse due to high debt levels and a significant reduction in patient in-take and Medicaid and

Medicare reimbursement. At the American Health Care Association's ("AHCA") 2017 annual
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conference in Las Vegas, Mark Parkinson, CEO and President of ACHA, noted that 2017 may

have presented the hardest operating environment ever for skilled nursing operators.

III. AETNA MERGER AND ISSUANCE OF REGISTRATION STATEMENT

54. On December 3, 2017, CVS and Aetna announced the signing of a merger

agreement under which CVS would acquire Aetna for $145 in cash and 0.8378 shares of CVS

common stock per each Aetna share (the "Aetna Acquisition"). As announced, the Aetna

Acquisition valued Aetna at approximately $207 per share or $77 billion, including $8 billion in

net debt.

55. The Aetna Acquisition is critical to the long-term success of CVS. At the time,

numerous industry observers noted that it was an important defensive acquisition to guard

against Amazon's expected entry into the pharmacy business. Moreover, merging large

pharmacy retailers, like CVS, with large insurers, like Aetna, helps retailers fight rising drug

prices and ballooning costs related to the Affordable Care Act by bringing various segments of

the healthcare industry under one roof.

56. For these reasons, when it was announced, the parties touted that the Aetna

Acquisition would create a uniquely integrated and community-based health care system. The

parties also announced that they expected the merger to deliver $750 million in near-term

synergies and low- to mid-single digit accretion in the second full year after close. When the

Aetna Acquisition eventually closed, Defendant Merlo called it a "transformative moment for

our company and our
industry."

If the Aetna Acquisition had not closed, CVS would have

missed out on these benefits and been significantly harmed.

57. On January 4, 2018, Defendants filed on Form S-4 with the SEC a draft

Registration Statement that would register the CVS common stock to be issued and exchanged in

the Aetna Acquisition following a series of amendments in response to SEC comments,
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including comments from the SEC emphasizing the importance of adequately disclosing material

trends and risk factors, as required by Items 303 and 503 of Regulation S-K.

58. On January 26, 2018 and February 5, 2018, Defendants filed amendments to the

Registration Statement.

59. On February 9, 2018, Defendants filed a final amendment to the Registration

Statement, as well as a final prospectus on Form 424B3 for the CVS common stock issued and

exchanged in the Aetna Acquisition, which forms a part of the Registration Statement. The SEC

declared the Registration Statement effective on February 9, 2018.

60. The Registration Statement incorporated by reference the following quarterly and

annual reports for CVS: (i) Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended December 31,

2016, (ii) Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2017, (iii) Quarterly

Report on Fonn 10-Q for fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2017, (iv) Quarterly Report on Form 10-

Q for fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2017, and (v) Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal

year ended December 31, 2017 (the "2017 CVS Form
10-K").3

61. On February 9, 2018, the date the Registration Statement became effective, CVS

common stock price closed at $69.39.

62. The Registration Statement contained untrue statements of material fact, omitted

to state other facts necessary to make the statements made not misleading, and was not prepared

in accordance with the rules and regulations governing its preparation.

______________
3

The 2017 CVS Fonn 10-K was filed with the SEC on February 14, 2018, after the effective

date of the Registration Statement. However, the Registration Statement incorporated by
reference all Form 10-Ks and 10-Qs filed "between the date of [the Registration Statement] and

the respective dates of the Aetna and CVS Health special
meetings."

Because the CVS and

Aetna special meetings took place on March 13, 2018, the 2017 CVS Form 10-K is incorporated

by reference into the Registration Statement.
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date of the Registration Statement. However, the Registration Statement incorporated by 
reference all Form 10-Ks and 10-Qs filed "between the date of[the Registration Statement] and 
the respective dates of the Aetna and CVS Health special meetings." Because the CVS and 
Aetna special meetings took place on March 13, 2018, the 2017 CVS Form 10-K is incorporated 
by reference into the Registration Statement. 
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63. Pursuant to SEC Regulation C, CVS was required to disclose material information

necessary to ensure that representations in the Registration Statement were not misleading.

Specifically, Rule 408, 17 C.F.R. § 230.408(a), states that "[i]n addition to the infonmation

expressly required to be included in a registration statement, there shall be added such further

material information, if any, as may be necessary to make the required statements, in light of the

circumstances under which they are made, not
misleading."

64. Under the instruction to Form S-4, CVS was required to comply with Item 303 of

Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. § 229.303. Specifically, Item 303, and the SEC's related interpretive

releases thereto, requires issuers to disclose events or uncertainties, including "any known trends

or uncertainties that have had or that the registrant reasonably expects will have a material

favorable or unfavorable impact on the registrant's financial information not to be necessarily

indicative of future operating results or of future financial
condition."

65. Under the instructions to Form S-4, CVS was also required to furnish the

information called for under Item 503 of Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. § 229.503, including, among

other things, a "discussion of the most significant factors that make the offering speculative or

risky."

66. In violation of these rules, the Registration Statement failed to disclose and

misrepresented known materially adverse trends and uncertainties, significant factors that made

the offering speculative or risky, and material information that was necessary to make statements

in the Registration Statement not misleading. The materially false or misleading statements, or

omissions of material fact, are discussed below and fall into four categories: (1) goodwill; (2)

potential loss of clients and inability to win new business; (3) solvency of customers; and (4)

integration and success of prior CVS acquisitions.
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63. Pursuant to SEC Regulation C, CVS was required to disclose material information 

necessary to ensure that representations in the Registration Statement were not misleading. 

Specifically, Ruic 408, 17 C.F.R. § 230.408(a), states that ''[i]n addition to the information 

expressly required to be included in a registration statement, there shall be added such further 

material information, if any, as may be necessary to make the required statements, in light of the 

circumstances under which they arc made, not misleading." 

64. Under the instruction to Form S-4, CVS was required to comply with Item 303 of 

Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. § 229.303. Specifically, Item 303, and the SEC's related interpretive 

releases thereto, requires issuers to disclose events or uncertainties, including "any known trends 

or uncertainties that have had or that the registrant reasonably expects \vill have a material 

favorable or unfavorable impact on the registrant's financial infrmnation not to be necessarily 

indicative of future operating results or of future financial condition.·' 

65. Under the instructions to Form S-4, CVS was also required to furnish the 

information called for under Item 503 of Regulation S-K, 17 C.F.R. § 229.503, including, among 

other things, a ·'discussion of the most significant factors that make the offering speculative or 

risky." 

6(i. In violation of these rules, the Registration Statement failed to disclose and 

misrepresented known materially adverse trends and uncertainties, significant factors that made 

the offering speculative or risky, and material information that was necessary to make statements 

in the Registration Statement not misleading. The materially false or misleading statements, or 

omissions of material fact, are discussed below and fall into four categories: (1) goodwill; (2) 

potential loss of clients and inability to win new business; (3) solvency of customers; and (4) 

integration and success of prior CVS acquisitions. 
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A. Category 1: Statements Concerning Goodwill

67. The Registration Statement contained the following materially false and

misleading statements concerning to the risk of future goodwill impairments:

Goodwill and other intangible assets could, in the future, become
impaired. [emphasis in original]

As of December 31, 2017, we had $52.1 billion of goodwill and
other intangible assets. Goodwill and indefinitely-lived intangible

assets are subject to annual impainment reviews, or more frequent
reviews if events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value

may not be recoverable. When evaluating goodwill for potential

impairment, we first compare the fair value of our reporting units
to their respective carrying amounts. We estimate the fair value of
our reporting units using a combination of a discounted cash flow
model and a comparable market multiple model. If the estimated
fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, an
impairment loss calculation is prepared. The impairment loss
calculation compares the fair value of a reporting unit to its

carrying amount. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit
exceeds the fair value, a goodwill impairment loss is recognized in
an amount equal to the excess to the extent of the goodwill
balance. Estimated fair values could change if, for example, there

are changes in the business climate, changes in the competitive

environment, adverse legal or regulatory actions or developments,
changes in capital structure, cost of debt, interest rates, capital
expenditure levels, operating cash flows, or market capitalization.
Because of the significance of our goodwill and intangible assets,

any future impairment of these assets could require material
noncash charges to our results of operations, which could have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operations.

68. The Registration Statement also contained the following false and misleading

description of the Company's goodwill, as of December 31, 2017:

The carrying value of goodwill and other intangible assets
covered by this critical accounting policy was $38.5 billion and

$13.5 billion as of December 31, 2017, respectively. . . . During
the third quarter of 2017, we performed our required annual
impairment tests of goodwill and indefinitely-lived trademarks.
The goodwill impainnent tests resulted in the fair values of our

Pharmacy Services and Retail Pharmacy reporting units exceeding
their carrying values by significant margins. The fair values of our

LTC and RxC reporting units exceeded their carrying values by
approximately 1% and 6%, respectively. The balance of goodwill
for our LTC and RxCrossroads reporting units at December 31,

4
Unless otherwise indicated, all emphasis is added.
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A. Category 1: Statements Concerning Goodwill 

67. The Registration Statement contained the following materially false and 

misleading statements concerning to the risk of future goodwill impairments: 

Good,vill and other intangible assets could, in the future, become 
impaired. [ emphasis in original] 

As of December 31, 2017, we had $52.1 billion of goodwill and 
other intangible assets. Goodwill and indefinitely-lived intangible 
assets are subject to annual impairment reviews, or more frequent 
reviews if events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value 
may not be recoverable. When evaluating goodwill for potential 
impaim1ent, we first compare the fair value of our reporting units 
to their respective carrying amounts. W c estimate the fair value of 
our repo1iing units using a combination of a discounted cash flow 
model and a comparable market multiple model. If the estimated 
fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, an 
impairment loss calculation is prepared. The impairment loss 
calculation compares the fair value of a reporting unit to its 
caITying amount. If the canying amount of the reporiing unit 
exceeds the fair value, a goodwill impairment loss is recognized in 
an arnuunt equal to the excess to the extent of the goodwill 
balance. Estimated fair values could change u; for example, there 
are changes in the business climate, changes in the competitive 
environment, adverse legal or regulatory actions or developments, 
changes in capital structure, cost of debt, interest rates, capital 
expenditure levels, operating cash flows, or market capitalization. 
Because of the significance of our goodwill and intangible assets, 
any future impairment of these assets could require material 
noncash charges to our results of operations, which could have a 
111atCl'i11/ {[(f,!'erse effect on our financial condition and results of 
o;wruliofl.\'.' 

68. The Registration Statement also contained the following false and misleading 

description of the Company's goodwill, as of December 3l,2017 

The canying value of goo<hvill and other intangible assets 
covered by this critical accounting policy was $38.5 billion and 
$13.5 billion as (~f December 31, 2017, re,\pectively . ... During 
the third quarter of 2017, we performed our required annual 
impairment tests of goodwill and indefinitely-lived trademarks. 
The goodwill impairment tests resulted in the fair values of our 
Pharmacy Services and Retail Pharmacy reporting units exceeding 
their carrying values by significant margins. The fair values of our 
LTC and RxC reporting units exceeded their carrying values by 
approximately 1 % and 6%, respectively. The balance of goodwill 
for our LTC and RxCrossroads reporting units at December 31, 

4 Unless otherwise indicated, all emphasis is added. 
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2017 was approximately $6.5 billion and $0.4 billion, respectively.

On January 2, 2018, we sold our RxCrossroads reporting unit to
McKesson Corporation for $725 million.

Although we believe we have sufficient current and historical
information available to us to test for impairment, it is possible that
actual results could differ from the estimates used in our
impairment tests.

As previously discussed, the results of our annual goodwill

impainment test resulted in the fair value of our LTC reporting unit

exceeding its carrying value by approximately 1% Our multi-year

cash flow projections for our LTC reporting unit have declined

from the prior year due to customer reimbursement pressures,

industry trends such as lower occupancy rates in skilled nursing
facilities, and client retention rates. Our projected discounted cash

flow model assumes future script growth from our senior living
initiative and the impact of acquisitions. Such projections also
include expected cost savings from labor productivity and other
initiatives. Our market multiple method is heavily dependent on

earnings multiples of market participants in the pharmacy industry,

including certain competitors and suppliers. If we do not achieve

our forecasts, given the small excess of fair value over the related

carrying value, as well as current market conditions in the

healthcare industry, it is reasonably possible that the operatiz:!

performance of the LTC reporting unit could be below our

current expectations in the near term and the LTC reporting unit
could be deemed to be impaired by a material amount.

69. The Registration Statement falsely stated that there was no reason to believe a

write down of the goodwill attributable to Omnicare was necessary as of December 31, 2017.

The Registration Statement also falsely stated the purported value of CVS's goodwill as of

December 31, 2017, and stated it was still worth $38.5 billion, which included $6.5 billion (or

roughly 17%) attributable to Omnicare.

70. In truth, the Registration Statement relied on a goodwill impairment analysis

conducted in the third quarter of 2017, at least five months prior to the effective date of the

Registration Statement. Given the continuing adverse trends and uncertainties, i.e., that the

skilled nursing industry was "under
siege"

with the two largest skilled nursing companies

(Genesis Healthcare and HCR ManorCare) nearing bankruptcy and that industry leaders

expected a 25 percent reduction in available beds in skilled nursing homes in the coming years,
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2017 was approximately $6.5 billion and $0.4 billion, respectively. 
On January 2, 2018, we sold our Rx Crossroads reporting unit to 
McKesson Corporation ti:_,r S725 million. 

Although we believe we have sufficient current and historical 
information available to us to test for impairment, it is possible that 
actual results could differ from the estimates used in our 
impainnent tests. 

As previously discussed, the results of our annual goodwill 
impairment test resulted in the fair value of our LTC reporting unit 
exceeding its canying value by approximately 1 %. Our multi-year 
cash flow projections for our L TC reporting wdt have declined 
.f1·0111 the prior year due to customer reimhursement pressures, 
itzdustry trends such as lower occupancy rates in skilled nursing 
facilities, and client retention rates. Our projected discounted cash 
flow model assumes future script growth from our senior living 
initiative and the impact of acquisitions. Such projections also 
include expected cost savings from labor productivity and other 
initiatives. Our market multiple method is heavily dependent on 
earnings multiples of market participants in the pharmacy industry, 
including certain competitors and suppliers. If we do not achieve 
our forecasts, given the small excess of fair value over the related 
carrying value, as well as current market conditions in the 
healthcare industry, it is reasonably possible tlzat the operational 
pe1:formance <~( the LTC report;,1g unit could be he/ow our 
current expectations in the near term and the LTC reporting unit 
could be deemed to he impaired by a material amount. 

69. The Registration Statement falsely stated that there was no reason to believe a 

write dmvn of the goodwill attributable to Omnicare \Vas necessary as of December 31, 2017. 

The Registration Statement also falsely stated the purported value of CVS's good\vill as of 

December 31, 2017, and stated it was still worth S38.5 billion, which included S6.5 billion (or 

roughly I 7%) attributable to Omnicare. 

70. ln truth, the Registration Statement relied on a goodwill impainnent analysis 

conducted in the third quarter of 2017, at least five months prior to the effective date of the 

Registration Statement. Given the continuing adverse trends and uncertainties, i.e., that the 

skilled nursing industry was "under siege" with the two largest skilled nursing companies 

(Genesis Healthcare and HCR ManorCare) nearing bankruptcy and that industry leaders 

expected a 25 percent reduction in available beds in skilled nursing homes in the coming years, 
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the goodwill impairment test incorporated into the Registration Statement was materially false

and misleading.

71. Moreover, the Registration Statement's warning that the "LTC reporting unit

could be below our current expectations in the near term and the LTC reporting unit could be

deemed to be impaired by a material
amount"

was materially false and misleading because "the

near
term"

and potential impairment had already occurred.

72. Furthermore, the Registration Statement stated, with respect to Omnicare's

current and historical information available in conducting the goodwill impairment test, that "it is

possible that actual results could differ from the estimates used in [CVS's] impairment
tests."

Thus, the Registration Statement described as patcñtial certain risks associated with Omnicare's

financial performance that may occur in the future and have an adverse impact on the goodwill

impairment test, rather than actual trends or events that had actually occurred. In fact,

Defendants'
goodwill impairment test relied on stale financial projections generated in the third

quarter of 2017, which were created by Omnicare management who had left or were in the

process of leaving employment at CVS, a fact not disclosed by Defendants.

73. Finally, the Registration Statement described as petéñtial certain risks associated

with an increase in interest rates that may occur in the future and have an adverse impact on the

goodwill impainment test rather than actual trends or events that had actually occurred.

Defendants failed to disclose that interest rates had increased since the Company's last goodwill

impainnent test and were expected to increase in the future, and therefore already had a material

impact on the Company's stated goodwill. Even if the public markets knew about the increase in

interest rates in the interim period, Defendants failed to disclose how such increases impacted the

Company's goodwill impairment test.
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the goodwill impairment test incorporated into the Registration Statement was materially false 

and misleading. 

71. Moreover, the Registration Statement's warning that the "L TC repotiing unit 

could be below our current expectations in the near term and the LTC repo1iing unit could be 

deemed to be impaired by a material amount" was materially false and misleading because ·'the 

near term" and potential impaim1ent had already occurred. 

72. Furthermore, the Registration Statement stated, with respect to Omnicare· s 

current and historical information available in conducting the goodwill impairment test, that "it is 

possible that actual results could differ from the estimates used in [CVS's] impairment tests." 

Thus, the Registration Statement dcsctibed as potential certain risks associated with Omnicare's 

financial performance that may occur in the future and have an adverse impact on the goodwill 

impairment test, rather than actual trends or events that had actually occuJTed. In fact, 

Defendants' goodwill impaitmcnt test relied on stale financial projections generated in the third 

quarter of 2017, which were created by Omnicare management who had left or were in the 

process of leaving employment at CVS, a fact not disclosed by Defendants. 

73. Finally, the Registration Statement described as potential certain risks associated 

with an increase in interest rates that may occur in the future and have an adverse impact on the 

goodwill impairment test rather than actual trends or events that had actually occurred. 

Defendants failed to disclose that interest rates had increased since the Company's last goodwill 

impainnent test and were expected to increase in the future, and therefore already had a material 

impact on the Company's stated goodwill. Even if the public markets knew about the increase in 

interest rates in the interim period, Defendants failed to disclose how such increases impacted the 

Company's goodwill impainnent test. 
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74. The
Defendants'

failure to conduct a goodwill impairment test closer in time to

the effective date of the Registration Statement rendered the statements about Omnicare's

goodwill in the Registration Statement materially false and misleading, since the condition of

Omnicare that existed at the time of the Registration Statement was falsely portrayed.

B. Category 2: Statements Concerning Potential Loss of Customers and

Inability to Win New Business

75. The Registration Statement contained the following materially false and

misleading statements concerning loss of LTC customers and failure to win new business:

The possibility of client losses and/or the failure to win new

business. [emphasis in original]

With respect to our LTC business, reimbursement from skilled

nursing facilities for prescriptions we dispense is determined

pursuant to our agreements with those skilled nursing facilities.

The termination of these agreements generally causes our ability
to provide services to any of the residents of that facility to cease,

resulting in the loss of revenue from any source for those

residents. There can be no assurance that we will be able to win

new business or secure renewal business on terms as favorable to

us as the present terms.

76. Thus, the Registration, Statement described as potential certain risks associated

with the loss of LTC customers and the inability to win new business that may occur in the future

and have an adverse impact on the Company's operating results, rather than actual trends or

events that had actually occurred. In truth, Omnicare had already lost 10 percent to 25 percent of

LTC customers. Further, Omnicare had not won new LTC business or secured renewal of LTC

business because Omnicare customers were uninterested in working with CVS due to rigid

business practices and a complete ignorance as to how the LTC industry worked.

C. Category 3: Statemeñ‡s Concerning Solvency of Customers

77. The Registration Statement contained the following materially false and

misleading statements concerning customer solvency:
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74. The Defendants' failure to conduct a goodwill impairment test closer in time to 

the effective date of the Registration Statement rendered the statements about Omnicare's 

goodwill in the Registration Statement materially false and misleading, since the condition of 

Omnicare that existed at the time of the Registration Statement was falsely portrayed. 

B. Category 2: Statements Concerning Potential Loss of Customers and 
Inability to Win New Business 

7 5. The Registration Statement contained the following materially false and 

misleading statements concerning loss of L TC customers and failure to win new business: 

The possihili(v of client losses and/or the failure to win new 
business. [ emphasis in original] 

With respect to our LTC business, reimbursement from skilled 
nursing facilities for prescriptions we dispense is detennined 
pursuant to our agreements with those skilled nursing facilities. 
The termination of these agreements generally causes our ability 
to provide services to any of the residents of that facility to cease, 
resulting in the loss of revenue from any source for those 
residents. There can be no assurance that we will be able to win 
new business or secure renewal business on terms as favorable to 
us as the present tenns. 

76. Thus, the Registration Statement described as potential certain risks associated 

with the loss of L TC customers and the inability to win new business that may occur in the future 

and have an adverse impact on the Company's operating results, rather than actual trends or 

events that had actually occurred. In trnth, Omnicare had already lost IO percent to 25 percent of 

LTC customers. Further, Omnicare had not won new LTC business or secured renewal of LTC 

business because Omnicare customers were uninterested in working with CVS due to rigid 

business practices and a complete ignorance as to how the L TC industry worked. 

C. Category 3: Statements Concerning Solvency of Customers 

77. The Registration Statement contained the following materially false and 

misleading statements concerning customer solvency: 
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Solvency of our customers. [emphasis in original]

In the event that our
customers'

operating and financial

performance deteriorates, or they are unable to make scheduled

payments or obtain adequate financing, our customers may not be

able to pay timely, or may delay payment of, amounts owed to us.

Any inability of our customers to pay us for our products and

services may adversely affect our business, financial condition

and results of operations.

78. Thus, the Registration Statement described as patential certain risks associated

with customer solvency that may occur in the future and have an adverse impact on the

Company's operating results, rather than actual adverse trends or events that had actually

occurred. In truth, LTC customers were in the process of filing for bankruptcy or receivership

due to a significant decrease in Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement. Further, the Registration

Statement failed to disclose that Omnicare had struggled to collect on outstanding accounts

receivable or continued to book accounts receivables that should have already been written off,

and therefore bankruptcy of LTC customers would have a far greater impact on Omnicare's

business than typically expected when a customer enters bankruptcy.

D. Category 4: Statements Concerning Integration and Success of Prior CVS

Acquisitions

79. The Registration Statement contained the following materially false and

misleading statements concerning integration and success of prior CVS acquisitions:

We may be unable to successfully integrate companies acqüiréd

by us. [emphasis in original]

Upon the closing of any acquisition we complete, we will need to

successftdly integrate the products, services and related assets, as

well as internal controls into our business operations. If an

acquisition is consummated, the integration of the acquired

business, its products, services and related assets into our company

may also be complex and time-consuming and, if the integration is

not fully successful, we may not achieve the anticipated benefits,

operating and cost synergies or growth opportunities of an
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Solvency of our customers. [ emphasis in original] 

In the event that our customers' operating and financial 
perfonnance deteriorates, or they arc unable to make scheduled 
payments or obtain adequate financing, our customers may not he 
able to pay timely, or may delay payment <~f. amounts owed to us. 
Any inability of our customers to pay us for our products and 
services may adversely c~ffect our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. 

78. Thus, the R.cgistration Statement described as potential cetiain risks associated 

with customer solvency that may occur in the future and have an adverse impact on the 

Company's operating results, rather than actual adverse trends or events that had actually 

occurred. In trnth, LTC customers ,vcrc in the process of filing frir bankruptcy or receivership 

due to a significant decrease in Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement. Further, the Registration 

Statement failed to disclose that Omnicare had struggled to collect on outstanding accounts 

receivable or continued to book accounts receivables that should have already been written ot1~ 

and therefore bankruptcy of LTC customers would have a far greater impact on Ommcarc's 

business than typically expected when a customer enters bankruptcy. 

D. Category 4: Statements Concerning Integration and Success of Prior CVS 
Acquisitions 

79. The Registration Statement contained the frJUowing materially false and 

misleading statements concerning intc6,-ration and success of prior CVS acquisitions: 

~Ve may he unable to succes.~:fully integrate companies acquired 
by us. [ emphasis in original] 

Upon the closing of any acquisition we complete, we will need to 
successfully integrate the products, services and related assets, as 
well as internal controls into our business operations. If an 
acquisition is consummated, the integration of the acquired 
business, its products, services and related assets into our company 
may also be complex and time-consuming and, if the integration is 
not fully successful, we may not achieve the anticipated benefits, 
operating and cost synergies or growth opportunities of an 
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acquisition. Potential difficulties that may be encountered in the

integration process include the following:

• Integrating personnel, operations and systems, while

maintaining focus on producing and delivering consistent,
high quality products and services;

a Coordinating geographically dispersed organizations;

• Disruption of management's attention from our ongoing
business operations;

• Retaining existing customers and attracting new customers;
and

• Managing inefficiencies associated with integrating our

operations.

An inability to realize the full extent of the anticipated benefits,

operating and cost synergies, innovations and operations

efficiencies or growth opportunities of an acquisition, as well as

any delays encountered in the integration process, could have a

material adverse effect on our business and results of operation.

Furthermore, these acquisitions, even ef successfully integrated,

may fail to further our business strategy as anticipated, expose us

to increased competition or challenges with respect to our

products, services or geographic markets, and expose us to

additional liabilities associated with an acquired business

including risks and liabilities associated with litigation involving
the acquired business. Any one of these challenges or risks could

impair our ability to realize any benefit from our acquisitions

after we have expended resources on them.

80. Thus, the Registration Statement described as potential certain risks associated

with the integration of certain acquired businesses, such as Omnicare, rather than actual trends or

events that had actually occurred. As of the Registration Statement, Omnicare had routinely

failed to perform in accordance with CVS's expectations and growth projections, lost 10 percent

to 25 percent of its customers, and had millions of dollars of accounts receivables attributable to

Omnicare that CVS failed to write off. In fact, Omnicare's performance was so bad that CVS
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acquisition. Potential difficulties that may be encountered in the 
integration process include the follo\ving: 

• Integrating personnel, operations 
maintaining focus on producing and 
high quality products and services; 

and systems, while 
delivering consistent, 

... Coordinating geographically dispersed organizations; 

• Disruption or management's attention from our ongoing 
business operations; 

<> Retaining existing customers and attracting ne\v customers; 
and 

.- \1anaging inefficiencies associated \Vith integrating our 
operations. 

An inability to realize the full extent of the anticipated benefits, 
operating and cost synergies, innovations a11d operations 
efiiciencics or grmvth opportunities of an acquisition, as well as 
any delays encountered in the integration process, could have a 
material adverse effect on our business and results of operation. 
Furthermore, these acquisitions, even if succesc\fu!Zr integrated, 
may fail to f11rther our business strategr as anticipated, expose us 
to increased competition or challenges with respect to our 
products, services or geographic markets, and expose us to 
additional liabilities associated with an acquired business 
including risks and liabilities associated with litigation involving 
the acquired business. Any one of these challenges or risks could 
impair our ability to realize any benefit from our acquisitions 
after we have expended resources on them. 

80. Thus, the Registration Statement described as potential certain risks associated 

with the integration of certain acquired businesses, such as Omnicare, rather than actual !rends or 

events that had actually occurred. As of the Registration Statement, Omnicare had routinely 

failed to perform in accordance with CVS's expectations and growth projections, lost 10 percent 

to 25 percent of its customers, and had millions of dollars of accounts receivables attributable to 

Omnicare that CVS failed to write off. In fact, Omnicare's performance was so bad that CVS 
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had already overhauled or was in the process of overhauling Omnicare's management to turn

around the struggling LTC segment.

IV. CVS BELATEDLY WRITES DOWN 93% OF OMNICARE'S GOODWILL
WITHIN ONE YEAR OF THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT

81. On March 13, 2018, both CVS and Aetna held special meetings of their

shareholders where each set of shareholders approved the Aetna Acquisition. Therefore, each set

of shareholders approved the Aetna Acquisition based, in part, on the false premise that the

goodwill value attributable to Omnicare was legitimate and did not need to be written down and

without disclosure of the existing and known adverse trends or uncertainties that would be

reasonably expected to have a materially unfavorable impact on Omnicare's business and

goodwill, as well as significant factors pertaining to Omnicare's goodwill that made the offering

speculative or risky.

82. On May 2, 2018, CVS issued its Form 10-Q for the first quarter of 2018 (the

"2018 Q1 10-Q"). For the first time, Defendants disclosed that CVS made an unspecified

number of additions and changes to Omnicare's management. Therefore, during the same

quarter the Registration Statement became effective, CVS recognized that the Registration

Statement failed to disclose that Omnicare was performing so poorly and faced such significant

headwinds that the Company needed to overhaul Omnicare's management. Despite these

material events or circumstances, CVS did not disclose that it conducted a goodwill impairment

test and, just like the Registration Statement, the 2018 Q1 10-Q represented that (as of March 31,

2018) the value of Omnicare's goodwill remained unchanged at $6.6 billion.

83. On August 8, 2018, CVS issued its earnings report and Form 10-Q for the second

quarter of 2018 (the "2018 Q2 10-Q"). Now for the first time, as of June 30, 2018, CVS took

goodwill impairment on Omnicare in the amount of $3.921 billion, or 59% of the previously
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had already overhauled or was in the process of overhauling Omnicare's management to turn 

around the struggling L TC segment. 

IV. CVS BELATEDLY WRITES DOWJ\ 93% OF OMNICARE'S GOODWILL 
·----,---.-, ,, ... -.-.--

WITHIN ONE YEAR OF THE REGISTRATION STATEMENT 

81. On March 13, 2018, both CVS and Aetna held special meetings of their 

shareholders where each set of shareholders approved the Aetna Acquisition. Therefore, each set 

of shareholders approved the Aetna Acquisition based, in part, on the false premise that the 

goodwill value attributable to Omnicare was legitimate and did not need to be written down and 

without disclosure of the existing and known adverse trends or uncertainties that would be 

reasonably expected to have a materially unfavorable impact on Omnicare's business and 

goodwill, as well as significant factors pertaining to Omnicare's goodwill that made the offering 

speculative or risky. 

82. On May 2, 2018, CVS issued its Porm 10-Q for the first quarter of 2018 (the 

"2018 Ql 10-Q"). For the first time, Defendants disclosed that CVS made an unspecified 

number of additions and changes to Omnicare's management. Therefore, during the same 

quarter the Registration Statement became effective, CVS recognized that the Registration 

Statement failed to disclose that Omnicare was perfo1ming so poorly and faced such significant 

headwinds that the Company needed to overhaul Omnicare's management. Despite these 

material events or circumstances, CVS did not disclose that it conducted a goodwill impairment 

test and, just like the Registration Statement, the 2018 Q1 I 0-Q represented that (as of March 31, 

2018) the value of Omnicare's goodwill remained unchanged at $6.6 billion. 

83. On August 8, 2018, CVS issued its earnings report and Form I 0-Q for the second 

quarter of 2018 (the "2018 Q2 10-Q"). Now for the first time, as of June 30, 2018, CVS took 

goodwill impairment on Omnicare in the amount of $3.921 billion, or 59% of the previously 
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reported value of its goodwill. The goodwill impainment represented a $3.85 GAAP earnings

per share loss from continuing operations.

84. The 2018 Q2 10-Q acknowledged that the write down was a result of challenges

that Omnicare "continued to
experience."

In other words, the write down was not attributable to

any new event or market condition that post-dated the Registration Statement.

85. Moreover, CVS claimed that it only conducted the disclosed impairrnent testing

that led to this write down because Omnicare's newly installed management prepared reasonable

forecasts for Omnicare that were lower than the forecasts Omnicare's previous mañagement

used. CVS stated that the goodwill impairment was a result of three specific inputs - lower

financial projections, lower market multiples of Omnicare's peer group, and higher risk-free

interest rates.

86. On November 28, 2018, the Aetna Acquisition closed and former Aetna

shareholders received CVS common stock pursuant to the Registration Statement. All told, CVS

issued approximately 274.4 million shares of common stock to former Aetna shareholders

pursuant to the Registration Statement. As of the close of trading on November 28, 2018, each

CVS share received by former Aetna shareholders was worth $80.27.

87. Only now, once the Aetna Acquisition closed did CVS disclose that it needed to

write down almost all of the remaining reported goodwill value attributable to Omnicare.

Specifically, on February 20, 2019, CVS issued a press release to report its earnings for the

fourth quarter and full year 2018. In that press release, CVS disclosed that, as of December 31,

2018, one month after the close of the Aetna Acquisition and only 12 months since the

Registration Statement became effective, it took a $2.228 billion impainment charge to

Omnicare's goodwill, representing a $1.99 GAAP diluted earnings loss per share from
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reported value of its goochvdl. The goochvill impairment represented a $3.85 GAAP earnings 

per share loss from continuing operations. 

84. The 2018 Q2 l 0-Q acknmvledged that the \Vritc down was a result of challenges 

that Omnicare "continued to experience." In other vvords, the write down was not attributable tu 

any new event or market condition that post-dated the IZegistration Statement. 

85. Iviorcovcr, CVS clairned that it only conducted the disclosed impainnent testing 

that led to this write down because Omnicare· s nnv(v installed management prepared reasonable 

forecasts fen Omnicare that were lower than the forecasts Ornnicare's previous management 

used. CVS stated that the goocl\vill impairment was a result of three specific inputs - lower 

financial projections, lower rnarkct multiples of Omnicarc·s peer group, and higher risk-free 

interest rates. 

86. On November 28. 2018, the Aetna Acquisition closed and former Aetna 

shareholders received CVS common stock pursuant to the Registration Statement. All told, CVS 

issued approximately 274.4 million shares of common stock to former Aetna shareholders 

pursuant to the Registration Statement. As of the close of trading on November 28, 2018, each 

CVS share received by former Aetna shareholders was worth $80.27. 

87. Only now, once the Aetna Acquisition closed did CVS disclose that it needed to 

write down almost all of the remaining reported goodwill value attributable to Omnicare. 

Specifically, on February 20, 2019, CVS issued a press release to report its earnings for the 

fourth quarter and full year 2018. In that press release, CVS disclosed that, as of December 31, 

2018, one month after the close of the Aetna Acquisition and only 12 months since the 

Registration Statement became effective, it took a $2.228 billion impainnent charge to 

Omnicare's goodwill, representing a $1.99 GAAP diluted earnings loss per share frorh 
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continuing operations. Thus, in just one year, CVS took impairment charges totaling $6.149

billion, or 93% of the purported goodwill value of Omnicare that CVS included in the

Registration Statement.

88. In total, CVS's goodwill impainment charges represented a GAAP diluted

earnings per share loss from continuing operations of $5.89. Relatedly, CVS issued 2019

guidance that fell well-short of analyst consensus expectations, including guidance for the

Retail/LTC segment that represents a 10% year over year decline.

89. CVS claimed that it conducted another impairment test and ultimately wrote

down Omnicare's goodwill again because Omnicare's management revised its projections

downward during the fourth quarter of 2018. However, the press release acknowledged that the

issues facing Omnicare are still the same ones it has been facing for years and identified above.

90. Moreover, on an accompanying analyst conference call, an analyst at Cowen and

Company echoed this sentiment when he stated "it seems like a lot of the issues that you're

discussing here are actually issues probably that Omnicare dealt with years ago as well. And so

it kind of points to more of a structural issue, particularly in the SNF market, I
guess."

No CVS

executive disputed this characterization, thus acknowledging that the impairment was not caused

by any new event, trend, or uncertainty.

91. On March 21, 2019, CVS common stock closed at a price of $57.40,

approximately 28% lower than the price of the common stock at the time former Aetna

stockholders received them pursuant to the Registration Statement.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

92. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action on behalf of all persons or entities who

purchased or acquired CVS common stock pursuant and/or traceable to the Registration

Statement, and who were damaged thereby (the "Class"). Excluded from the Class are
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continuing operations. Thus, in _Just one year, CVS took impairment charges totaling $6.149 

billion, or 93% of the purp01ied goodwill value of Omnicare that CVS included rn the 

Registration S tatcment. 

88. In total, CVS's goodwill impairment charges represented a GAAP diluted 

earnings per share loss from continuing operations of $5.89. Relatedly, CVS issued 2019 

guidance that tell well-short of analyst consensus expectations, including guidance for the 

Rctail/LTC segment that represents a 10% year over year decline. 

89. CVS claimed that it conducted another impainnent test and ultimately wrote 

down Omnicarc's goodwill again because Omnicare's management revised its projections 

downward during the foutih quarter of 2018. However, the press release acknowledged that the 

issues facing Omnicare are still the same ones it has been facing for years and identified above. 

90. Moreover, on an accompanying analyst conference call, an analyst at Cowen and 

Company echoed this sentiment when he stated "it seems like a lot of the issues that you're 

discussing here are actually issues probably that Omnicare dealt with years ago as well. And so 

it kind of points to more of a structural issue, particularly in the SNF market, I guess." No CVS 

executive disputed this characterization, thus ack110\vlcdging that the impairment \Vas not caused 

by any new event, trend, or uncertainty. 

91. On March 21, 2019, CVS common stock closed at a pnce of $57.40, 

approximately 28% lower than the pnce of the common stuck at the time fom1er Aetna 

stockholders received them pursuant to the Registration Statement. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

92. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action on behalf of all persons or entities who 

purchased or acquired CVS common stock pursuant and/or traceable to the Registration 

Statement, and who were damaged thereby (the "Class"). Excluded from the Class are 
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Defendants and the Individual
Defendants'

immediate family members; (ii) the officers,

directors, affiliates, and subsidiaries of CVS, at all relevant times, including CVS's employee

retirement and/or benefits plan(s) and their participants or beneficiaries, to the extent they

acquired such CVS common stock through such plan(s); (iii) any entity in which a Defendant has

a majority ownership interest; (iv) persons who have no compensable damages; and (v) the legal

representatives, heirs, successors, or assigns of any such excluded person or entity. .

93. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is

impracticable. CVS issued approximately 274.4 million shares of common stock pursuant to the

Registration Statement. While the exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff at this

time and can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiff believes that there are

hundreds or thousands of members in the proposed Class. Record owners and other members of

the Class may be identified from records maintained by CVS or its transfer agent and may be

notified of the pendency of this action by mail, using the form of notice similar to that

customarily used in securities class actions.

94. Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class, as all

members of the Class are similarly affected by
Defendants'

wrongful conduct in violation of

federal law that is complained of herein.

95. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the

Class and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation.

96. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the

questions of law and fact common to the Class are:

(a) whether Defendants violated the 1933 Act;
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Defendants and the Individual Defendants' immediate family members; (ii) the officers, 

directors, affiliates, and subsidiaries of CVS, at all relevant times, including CVS 's employee 

retirement and/or benefits plan(s) and their participants or beneficiaries, to the extent they 

acquired such CVS common stock through such plan(s); (iii) any entity in which a Defendant has 

a majority ownership interest; (iv) persons who have no compensable damages; and (v) the legal 

representatives, heirs, successors, or assigns of any such excluded person or entity .. 

93. The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members 1s 

impracticable. CVS issued approximately 274.4 million shares of common stock pursuant to the 

Registration Statement. While the exact number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff at this 

time and can only be ascertained through appropriate discovery, Plaintiff believes that there are 

hundreds or thousands of members in the proposed Class. Record owners and other members of 

the Class may be identified from records maintaincct by CVS or its transfer agent and may be 

notified of the pendency of this action by mail, using the forn1 of notice similar to that 

customarily used in securities class actions. 

94. Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the members of the Class, as all 

members of the Class arc similarly affected by Defendants' wrongful conduct in violation of 

federal law that is complained of herein. 

95. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the members of the 

Class and has retained counsel competent and experienced in class and securities litigation. 

96. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class and 

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Class. Among the 

questions of law and fact common to the Class are: 

(a) whether Defendants violated the 1933 Act; 

27 



(b) whether statements in the Registration Statement misrepresented and/or

omitted material facts in violation of the 1933 Act; and

(c) to what extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the

proper measure of damages.

97. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable. Furthermore, as

the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and

burden of individual litigation make it impossible for members of the Class to individually

redress the wrongs done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as

a class action.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
For Violation of § 11 of the 1933 Act

Against CVS and the Individual Defendants

98. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each allegation above as if fully set forth herein.

99. This Cause of Action is brought pursuant to § 11 of the 1933 Act, 15 U.S.C.

§ 77k, on behalf of the Class, against CVS and each of the Individual Defendants

100. This Cause of Action does not sound in fraud. Plaintiff need not claim or

establish that any of the Defendants committed intentional or reckless misconduct or that any of

the Defendants acted with scienter or fraudulent intent, which are not elements of a § 11 claim.

This claim is based solely on negligence and/or strict liability.

101. The Registration Statement was inaccurate and misleading, contained untrue

statements of material fact, omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements made

not misleading, and omitted to state material facts required to be stated therein.

102. CVS is the registrant for the Registration Statement. As such, CVS is strictly

liable for the materially inaccurate statements contained in the Registration Statement and the
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(h) whether statements in the Registration Statement misrepresented and/or 

omitted material facts in violation of the I 933 Act; and 

(c) to 1.,vhat extent the members of the Class have sustained damages and the 

proper measure of damages. 

97. A class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy since joinder of all members is impracticable. Fu1ihermorc, as 

the damages suffered by individual Class members may be relatively small, the expense and 

burden of individual litigation make it impossible for members of the Class to individually 

redress the wrongs done to them. There will be no difficulty in the management of this action as 

a class action. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 
For Violation of§ 11 of the 1933 Act 

Against CVS and the Individual Defendants 

98. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each allegation above as if fully set fo1th herein. 

C)C). This Cause of Action is brought pursuant to § 11 of the 1933 Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 77k, on behalf of the Class, against CVS and each of the Individual Defendants. 

100. This Cause of Action docs not sound in fraud. Plaintiff need not claim or 

establish that any of the Defendants committed intentional or reckless mtsconduct or that any of 

the Defendants acted with scientcr or fraudulent intent, which arc not clements of a § 11 claim. 

This claim is based solely on negligence anc!lor strict liability 

101. The Registration Statement was inaccurate and misleading, contained untrue 

statements of material fact, omitted to state other facts necessary to make the statements made 

not misleading, and omitted to state material facts required to be stated therein. 

102. CVS is the registrant for the Registration Statement. As such, CVS is strictly 

liable for the materially inaccurate statements contained in the Registration Statement and the 
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failure of the Registration Statement to be complete and accurate. By virtue of the fact that the

Registration Statement contained material misrepresentations, or omissions of material fact

necessary to make the statements therein not false and misleading, CVS is liable under § 11 of

the 1933 Act to Plaintiff and the Class for the misstatements and omissions.

103. None of the Defendants named herein made a reasonable investigation or

possessed reaseñable grounds for the belief that the statements contained in the Registration

Statement were true and without omission of any material facts and were not misleading.

104. The Individual Defendants each signed the Registration Statement either

personally or through an attorney-in-fact and/or caused its issuance. The Individual Defendants

each had a duty to make a reasonable and diligent investigation of the truthfulness and accuracy

of the statements contained in the Registration Statement. They each had a duty to ensure that

such statements were true and accurate and that there were no omissions of material fact that

would make the statement misleading. By virtue of each of the Individual
Defendants'

failure to

exercise reasonable care, the Registration Statement contained misrepresentations of material

facts and omissions of material facts necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.

As such, each of the Individual Defendants is liable under § 11 of the 1933 Act to Plaintiff and

the Class.

105. None of the untrue statements or omissions of material fact in the Registration

Statement alleged herein was a forward-looking statement. Rather, each such statemerit

concerned existing facts. Moreover, the Registration Statement did not properly identify any of

the untrue statements as forward-looking statements and did not disclose information that

undermined the putative validity of those statements.
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failure of the Registration Statement to be complete and accurate. By virtue of the fact that the 

Registration Statement contained material misrepresentations, or omissions of material fact 

necessary to make the statements therein not false and misleading, CVS is liable under§ 11 of 

the 1933 Act to Plaintiff and the Class for the misstatements and omissions. 

I 03. None of the Defendants named herein made a reasonable investigation or 

possessed reasonable grounds for the belief that the statements contained in the Registration 

Statement were true and without omission of any material facts and were not misleading. 

104. The Individual Defendants each signed the Registration Statement either 

personally or through an attorney-in-fact and/or caused its issuance. The Individual Defendants 

each had a duty to make a reasonable and diligent investigation of the truthfulness and accuracy 

of the statements contained in the Registration Statement. They each had a duly to ensure that 

such statements were true and accurate and thal there ,vere no omissions of material fact that 

would make the statement misleading. By virtue of each of the Individual Defendants' failure to 

exercise reasonable care, the Registration Statement contained misrepresentations of material 

facts and omissions of material facts necessary to make the statements therein not misleading. 

As such, each of the Individual Defendants is liable under§ 11 of the 1933 Act to Plaintiff and 

the Class. 

105. None of the untrue statements or omissions of material fact in the Registration 

Statement alleged herein was a forward-looking statement. Rather, each such statement 

concerned existing facts. Moreover, the Registration Statement did not properly identify any of 

the untrue statements as forward-looking statements and did not disclose information that 

undermined the putative validity of those statements. 
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106. By reason of the conduct alleged herein, each Defendant violated, and/or

controlled a person who violated, § 11 of the 1933 Act.

107. Plaintiff acquired CVS common stock pursuant and traceable to the Registration

Statement.

108. Plaintiff and the Class have sustained damages. The value of CVS common stock

has declined substantially subsequent to and due to
Defendants'

violations.

109. At the time of acquiring their CVS common stock, Plaintiff and other members of

the Class were without knowledge of the facts concerning the wrongful conduct alleged herein

and could not have reasonably discovered those facts prior to the disclosures herein. Less than

one year has elapsed from the time that Plaintiff discovered or reasonably could have discovered

the facts upon which this complaint is based to the time that Plaintiff commenced this action.

Less than three years has elapsed between the time that the securities upon which this Cause of

Action is brought were issued and the time Plaintiff commenced this action.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
For Violation of § 12(a)(2) of the 1933 Act

Against CVS and the Individual Defêñdañts

110. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each allegation above as if fully set forth herein.

111. This Cause of Action is brought pursuant to § 12(a)(2) of the 1933 Act, 15 U.S.C.

§ 771(a)(2), on behalf of the Class, against CVS and each of the Individual Defendants.

112. This Cause of Action does not sound in fraud. Plaintiff need not claim or

establish that any of the Defendants committed intentional or reckless misconduct or that any of

the Defendants acted with scienter or fraudulent intent, which are not elements of a § 12(a)(2)

claim. This claim is based solely on negligence and/or strict liability.

113. By means of the defective Registration Statement, CVS and the Individual

Defendants promoted, offered and sold CVS common stock to Plaintiff and other members of the
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I 06. By reason of the conduct alleged herein, each Defendant violated, and/or 

controlled a person who violated, § 11 of the I 933 Act. 

I 07. Plaintiff acquired CVS common stock pursuant and traceable to the Registration 

Statement. 

I 08. Plaintiff and the Class have sustained damages. The value of CVS common stock 

has declined substantially subsequent to and due to Defendants' violations. 

109. At the time of acquiring their CVS common stock, Plaintiff and other members of 

the Class were without knowledge of the facts concerning the wrongful conduct alleged herein 

and could not have reasonably discovered those facts prior to the disclosures herein. Less than 

one year has elapsed from the time that Plaintiff discovered or reasonably could have discovered 

the facts upon which this complaint is based tl) the time that Plaintiff commenced this action. 

Less than three years has elapsed between the time that the securities upon which this Cause of 

Action is brought were issued and the time Plaintiff commenced this action. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
For Violation of§ 12(a)(2) of the 1933 Act 

Against CVS and the Individual Defendants 

110. Plaintiff repeats and rcalleges each ailegation above as if fully set forth herein. 

111. This Cause of Action is brought pursuant to § l 2(a)(2) of the 1933 Act, 15 U.S.C. 

§ 77l(a)(2), on behalf of the Class, against CVS and each of the Individual Defendants. 

112. This Cause of Action does not sound in fraud. Plain ti ff need not claim or 

establish that any of the Defendants committed intentional or reckless misconduct or that any of 

the Defendants acted with scienter or fraudulent intent, which are not elements of a § 12{a){2) 

claim. This claim is based solely on negligence and/or strict liability. 

113. By means of the defective Registration Statement, CVS and the Individual 

Defendants promoted, offered and sold CVS common stock to Plaintiff and other members of the 
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Class for the benefit of themselves and their associates. Each Defendant named in this claim was

a seller, offeror, and/or solicitor of the common stock offered pursuant to the Prospectus.

114. The Registration Statement contained untrue statements of material fact and

concealed and/or failed to disclose material facts, as detailed above. Defendants each had a duty

to make a reasonable and diligent investigation of the truthfulness and accuracy of the statements

contained in the Registration Statement. They each had a duty to ensure that such statements

were true and accurate and that that there were no omissions of material fact that would make the

statement misleading. By virtue of each of the
Defendants'

failure to exercise reasonable care,

the Registration Statement contained material misrepresentations of material facts and omissions

of material facts necessary to make the statements therein not misleading. As such, each of the

Defendants are liable under § 12(a)(2) of the 1933 Act to Plaintiff and the Class.

115. None of the untrue statements or omissions of material fact in the Registration

Statement alleged herein was a forward-looking statement. Rather, each such statement

concerned existing facts. Moreover, the Registration Statement did not properly identify any of

the untrue statements a forward-looking statement and did not disclose information that

undermined the putative validity of those statements.

116. Plaintiff did not know, nor in the exercise of reasonable diligence could Plaintiff

have known, of the untruths and omissions contained in the Registration Statement at the time

Plaintiff received CVS common stock.

117. By reason of the conduct alleged herein, CVS and the Individual Defendants

violated § 12(a)(2) of the 1933 Act. As a direct and proximate result of such violation, Plaintiff

and the other members of the Class who received CVS common stock pursuant to the

Registration Statement sustained substantial damages in connection with such receipt.
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Class for the benefit of themselves and their associates. Each Defendant named in this claim was 

a seller, offeror, and/or solicitor of the common stock offered pursuant to the Prospectus. 

l 14. The Registration Statement contained untrue statements of material fact ancl 

concealed and/or failed to disclose material facts, as detailed above. Defendants each had a duty 

to make a reasonable and diligent investigation of the truthfulness and accuracy of the statements 

contained in the Registration Statement. They each had a duty to ensure that such statements 

were true and accurate and that that there were no omissions of material fact that would make the 

statement misleading. By virtue of each of the Defendants' failure to exercise reasonable care, 

the Registration Statement contained material misrepresentations of material facts and omissions 

of material facts necessary to make the statements therein not misleading. As such, each of the 

Defendants are liable under~ 12(a)(2) of the 193:> Act to Plaintiff and the Class. 

115. None of the untrue statements or omissions of material fact in the Registration 

Statement alleged herein was a forward-looking statement. Rather, each such statement 

concerned existing facts. Moreover, the Registration Statement did not properly identify any of 

the untrue staterneuts a forward-looking statement and did not disclose infonnation that 

undermined the putative validity of those statements. 

116. Plaintiff did not know, nor in the exercise of reasonable diligence could Plaintiff 

have known, oC the untruths and omissions contained in the Registration Statement at the time 

Plaintiff received CVS common stock. 

117. By reason of the conduct alleged herein, CVS and the Individual Defendants 

violated § 12( a)(2) of the 193 3 Act. As a direct and proximate result of such violation, Plaintiff 

and the other members of the Class who received CVS common stock pursuant to the 

Registration Statement sustained substantial damages in connection with such receipt. 
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Accordingly, Plaintiff and the other members of the Class who hold the common stock issued

pursuant to the Registration Statement have the right to rescind and recover the consideration

paid for their common stock, and hereby tender their shares to the Defendants sued herein. Class

members who have sold their CVS common stock seek damages to the extent pennitted by law.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
For Violation of § 15 of the 1933 Act

Against the Individual Defendants

118. Plaintiff repeats and realleges each allegation above as if fully set forth herein.

119. This Cause of Action is brought pursuant to § 15 of the 1933 Act against each of

the Individual Defendants.

120. This Cause of Action does not sound in fraud. Plaintiff need not claim or

establish that any of the Defendants committed intentional or reckless misconduct or that any of

the Defendants acted with scienter or fraudulent intent, which are not elements of a § 15 claim.

This claim is based solely on negligence and/or strict liability.

121. The Individual Defendants each were controlling persons of CVS by virtue of

their positions as directors and/or senior officers of CVS. The Individual Defendants each had a

series of direct and/or indirect business and/or personal relationships with other directors and/or

officers of CVS. The Individual Defendants signed the Registration Statement and were

responsible for its contents.

122. Each of the Individual Defendants participated in preparing and disseminating the

Registration Statement. Because of their positions of control and authority as senior officers

and/or directors, each of the Individual Defendants were and able to, and did, control the

contents of the Registration Statement, which contained materially untrue information and/or

omitted material information required to be disclosed to prevent the statements made therein

from being misleading.
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Accordingly, Plaintiff and the other members of the Class who hold the common stock issued 

pursuant to the Registration Statement have Lhe right to rescind and recover the consideration 

paid for their common stock, and hereby tender their shares to the Defendants sued herein. Class 

members who have sold their CVS common stock seek damages to the extent pcnnitted by law. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 
For Violation of§ 15 of the 1933 Act 
Against the Individual Defendants 

118. Plain ti ff repeats and realleges each allegation above as if fully set forth herein. 

119. This Cause of Action is brought pursuant to § 15 of the 1933 Act against each of 

the Individual Defendants. 

120. This Cause of Action does not sound in fraud. Plaintiff need not claim or 

establish that any of the Defendants committed intentional or reckless misconduct or that any of 

the Defendants acted with scienter or fraudulent intent, which are not clements of a § 15 claim. 

This claim is based solely on negligence and/or strict liability. 

121. The Individual Defendants each were controlling persons of CVS by virtue of 

their positions as directors and/or senior officers of CVS. The Individual Defendants each had a 

series of direct and/or indirect business and/or personal relationships with other directors and/or 

officers of CVS. The Individual Defendants signed the Registration Statement and were 

responsible for its contents. 

122. Each of the Individual Defendants participated in preparing and disseminating the 

Registration Statement. Because of their positions of control and authority as senior officers 

and/or directors, each of the Individual Defendants were and able to, and did, control the 

contents of the Registration Statement, which contained materially untrue information and/or 

omitted material information required to be disclosed to prevent the statements made therein 

from being misleading. 
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123. As control persons of CVS, each of the Individual Defendants are liable jointly

and severally with and to the same extent as CVS for its violations of § 11 and/or § 12(a)(2) of

the 1933 Act.

124. At the time of acquiring their CVS common stock, Plaintiff and other members of

the Class were without knowledge of the facts concerning the wrongful conduct alleged herein

and could not have reasonably discovered those facts prior to the disclosures herein. Less than

one year has elapsed from the time that Plaintiff discovered or reasonably could have discovered

the facts upon which this complaint is based to the time Plaintiff commenced this action. Less

than three years has elapsed between the time that the securities upon which this Cause of Action

is brought were issued and the time Plaintiff commenced this action.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment as follows:

A. Certifying this action as a class action, designating Plaintiff as a Class

Representative, and appointing Plaintiff's counsel as Class Counsel;

B. Awarding compensatory damages of at least $6 billion in favor of Plaintiff and

the other Class members against all Defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained

as a result of Defendants'
wrongdoing, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest

thereon;

C. Awarding Plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in

this action, including counsel fees and expert fees;
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123. As control persons of CVS, each of the Individw1! Defendants are liable jointly 

and severally with and to the same extent as CVS for its violations of§ 11 and/or § l 2(a)(2) of 

the 1933 Act. 

124. At the time of acquiring their CVS common stock, Plaintiff and other members of 

the Class vvcrc without knowledge of the facts concerning the vvrongful conduct alleged herein 

and could not have reasonably discovered those facts prior to the disclosures herein. Less than 

one year has elapsed from the time that Plaintiff discovered or reasonably could have discovered 

the facts upon \\foch this complaint is based to the time Plaintiff commenced this action. Less 

than three years has elapsed between the time that the securities upon which this Cause of Action 

is brought were issued and the time Plaintiff commenced this action. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief and judgment as follows: 

A. Certifying this action as a class action, designating Plaintiff as a Class 

Representative, and appointing Plaintiffs counsel as Class Counsel; 

B. Awarding compensatory damages of at least $6 billion in favor of Plaintiff and 

the other Class members against all Defendants, jointly and severally, for all damages sustained 

as a rcst1lt of Defendants' wrungclning, in an amount to be proven at trial, including interest 

thereon; 

C. Awarding Plaintiff and the Class their reasonable costs and expenses incurred in 

this action, including counsel fees and expert fees; 
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D. Awarding rescission or a rescissory measure of damages; and

E. Awarding such other or different relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

DATED: March 22, 2019

New York, New York

GANFER SHORE LEEDS
& ZAUDERER LLP

Mark C. Zauderer

Grant A. Shehigian

Ira B. Matetsky

360 Lexington Avenue,
14th

FlOOr

New York, New York 10017

Telephone: (212) 922-9250

Facsimile: (212) 922-9335

mzauderer@ganfershore.com

gshehigian@ganfershore.com

imatetsky@ganfershore.com

LABATON SUCHAROW LLP

By:

Jonathan Gardner

Alfred L. Fatale III

David J. MacIsaac

John Vielandi

140 Broadway,
34"'

Floor

New York, New York 10017-5563

Telephone: (212) 907-0700

Facsimile: (212) 818-0477

jgardner@labaton.com

afatale@labaton.com

dmacisaac@labaton.com

jvielandi@labaton.com

Attorneys for Plaintiff
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D . Awarding rescission or a rescissory measure of damages; and 

E. Awarding such other or different relief as the Court may dee1n just and proper. 

DATED: March 22, 2019 
New York, New York 
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Jonathan Gardner 
Alfred L. Fatale III 
David J. Maclsaac 
John Vielandi 
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Attorneys for Plaintiff 




